Case No. 78341

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

In the Matter of the Estate of MILTON I. SCHWARTZ, deceased.

A. JONATHAN SCHWARTZ, Executor of the Estate of MILTON I. SCHWARTZ,

Appellant,

US.

THE DR. MIRIAM AND SHELDON G. ADELSON EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTE,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jan 29 2020 11:56 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable GLORIA J. STURMAN, District Judge District Court Case No. 07-P061300-E

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Daniel F. Polsenberg (SBN 2376)
Joel D. Henriod (SBN 8492)
Abraham G. Smith (SBN 13,250)
Dale Kotchka-Alanes (SBN 13,168)
Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie Llp

JURISDICTION

Plaintiff A. Jonathan Schwartz, executor of the Estate of Milton I. Schwartz, appeals from a final judgment pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) and from a decision wherein the amount in controversy exceeds \$10,000 under NRS 155.190(1)(n). Schwartz was served with notice of entry of the orders on February 20 and 21, 2019 and timely appealed on March 8, 2019. (27 App. 6598.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal to address the enforceability of a naming-rights agreement. This case presents the issues of when and how a promise to grant naming rights in perpetuity can be enforced, which has not yet been addressed by this Court in a published opinion. NRAP 17(a)(11).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the district court erred in granting summary judgment against the Estate on its claim for breach of oral contract based on a four-year statute of limitations, even though the obligation sought to be enforced was founded on an instrument in writing and inquiry notice occurred only three years before suit was brought.

- 2. Whether the district erred in its refusal to instruct the jury regarding contract modification.
- 3. Whether the district court erred in its refusal to instruct the jury on the implied breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.
- 4. Whether the district court erred in determining that it could not rescind Milton I. Schwartz's lifetime gifts absent an enforceable naming-rights agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from probate-court judgments in cross-actions to compel a testamentary bequest (brought by the Adelson Educational Institute (the "school")) and for declaratory relief, breach of contract, and alternatively revocation of lifetime gifts concerning the naming rights for a private school (brought by the Estate of Milton I. Schwartz (the "Estate")). The Eighth Judicial District Court, Honorable Gloria J. Sturman, District Judge, presided.

The Estate asked for a determination that Milton I. Schwartz ("Mr. Schwartz") had an enforceable perpetual naming-rights agreement with the school, which was formerly known as the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy. The district court granted summary judgment against the Estate on its oral-contract claim. And after the court refused to instruct the jury on contract modification or the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, the jury did not find an enforceable written naming-rights contract. The jury instead found that Mr. Schwartz had intended a bequest in his will to go only to a school known as the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy" based on his belief that he had a perpetual naming-rights agreement.

The district court entered judgment denying the Estate's contract claims and claims for rescission of Mr. Schwartz's lifetime gifts to the school but found that the will bequest had lapsed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Agreement

Milton Schwartz Donates \$500,000 for Permanent Naming Rights to a Jewish School

In 1989, a Jewish day school known as the Hebrew Academy wanted to build a new campus in Summerlin and urgently needed donors. (17 App. 4239; 14 App. 3253.) So its board members Dr. Tamar Lubin, the school principal, and Dr. Roberta Sabbath solicited money from a known Jewish philanthropist, Milton I. Schwartz. (14 App. 3253.) As Mr. Schwartz later testified, he "donated \$500,000 to the Hebrew Academy in return for which it would guarantee that its name would change in perpetuity to the MILTON I. SCHWARTZ HEBREW ACADEMY." (8 App. 1857; see also 28 App. 6880 (similar affidavit).) In news reports, Dr. Lubin characterized the donation as "very generous." (28 App. 6873.)

Contemporaneous board minutes confirm that Mr. Schwartz donated \$500,000 to have the school named after him in perpetuity: "A letter should be written to Milton Schwartz stating the Academy will be named after him." (28 App. 6870.)

After the board meeting, Mr. Schwartz instructed his personal assistant Susan Pacheco to pay the \$500,000. She testified: "They were going to name the school the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in exchange for the \$500,000 donation. So after the meeting, he told me to write the checks." (13 App. 3161.)

Mr. Schwartz was also on the board, so the same day he had Ms.

Pacheco (now in her capacity as the board's acting secretary) draft a letter from the board acknowledging the agreement:

The Hebrew Academy acknowledges with thanks your generous gift of \$500,000 to be used in the Academy's building program for the construction of the new campus at Summerlin. In appreciation and recognition of this gift, the Board of Trustees of The Hebrew Academy has decided to name the new campus the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy," in perpetuity for so long as The Hebrew Academy exists and for so long as may be permitted by law, your name to be appropriately commemorated and memorialized at the academy campus.

(28 App. 6872.) While the letter was apparently never signed, it was

¹ There were three checks: two dated August 14, 1989 (the date of the board meeting) for \$125,000 each, and one dated August 23, 1989 for the remaining \$350,000. (28 App. 6871; 13 App. 3158–60.)

consistent with Ms. Pacheco's recollection about what transpired at the board meeting. (13 App. 3226–29.) The straightforward deal was that Mr. Schwartz gave \$500,000 "in exchange for the naming of the school the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy"—"[f]orever." (13 App. 3156, 3157.)

Other board members from 1989 confirmed this agreement: Sam Ventura testified that Mr. Schwartz donated the money to have his name on the school in perpetuity. (17 App. 4100–01.) Lenard Schwartzer testified that Mr. Schwartz "donated a half a million dollars and arranged for most of the other donations for the school." (12 App. 2991.) In return, the "[B]oard agreed to name the school the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy . . . in perpetuity, meaning forever." (12 App. 2990.)²

(Accord 13 App. 3071 ("A half million dollars for the name of the

² See also 13 App. 3072 (testimony of Lenard Schwartzer):

I think all of us [board members] understood that because Milton Schwartz was coming to the rescue, remember the school was not going to exist if he didn't—if this didn't happen, he came to the rescue, said I'm giving a half a million dollars and I will help you raise the remainder of the money you need. And in exchange for that, we agreed to name the school the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy.

Board minutes from January 18, 1990 list amounts pledged and paid for the Summerlin campus between July 1, 1988 and February 21, 1990. The list confirmed that Mr. Schwartz pledged and paid \$500,000, with "none" outstanding. (28 App. 6876.)³

The School Amends Its Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws to Permanently Name the School after Milton Schwartz

The school accepted Mr. Schwartz's offer (14 App. 3353), creating what board member Mr. Schwartzer described as "a legally enforceable agreement." (13 App. 3117; 13 App. 3049–50; see also 13 App. 3238 (Ms. Pacheco's testimony); 14 App. 3412–13 (executor's testimony).)

Consistent with this agreement, in August 1990 the school

school."); 13 App. 3072; 13 App. 3073 ("the board had an understanding that in exchange for the half a million dollars and the intention to raise enough funds to build a school, that we agreed to name the school the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy").)

Though present, Dr. Lubin raised no objection to the pledge memo. (13 App. 3009–10.) Nor did she claim Mr. Schwartz had promised more money. Nearly thirty years later, however, Dr. Lubin and Dr. Sabbath contended that Mr. Schwartz promised to pay \$1 million, rather than to pay \$500,000 and help fundraise. But Dr. Sabbath candidly admitted that Dr. Lubin "was the one who brought that [\$1 million] number up." (14 App. 3252–53 ("[Dr. Lubin] was the one who brought that number up.").) And Dr. Lubin, now 85, misremembered several points, including the indisputably false claim that Mr. Schwartz's name "didn't go up" on the school. (17 App. 4220, 4224.) Dr. Sabbath later confirmed the accuracy of the pledge memo. (14 App. 3259).

amended its articles of incorporation: "This corporation shall be known as: The Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy." (27 App. 6607.) Two months later, the board unanimously agreed to amend the school's bylaws to correct the name of the school. (27 App. 6610.)

In December 1990, the bylaws were amended and signed by the board members, including Dr. Lubin and Mr. Schwartz himself:

The name of this corporation is The Milton Schwartz Hebrew Academy (hereinafter referred to as The Academy) and shall remain so in perpetuity.

(27 App. 6612, 6620; 13 App. 3116.) These amendments were "in furtherance of the agreement that . . . the board members had with the school." (14 App. 3264.) Lenard Schwartzer, the board's then-secretary who drafted the bylaws, testified that he included the naming provision "[t]o reflect the decision of the board of trustees to name the school the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in perpetuity." (13 App. 3012.) This provision "was supposed to be in perpetuity. So that's what it means, forever, to me, which means it's not going to be changed." (13 App. 3013; accord 13 App. 3115–16.)

The minutes affirm these actions: "The Board corrected the draft of the revised By-Laws by . . . naming the corporation after Milton I.

Schwartz in perpetuity." (29 App. 7004.) The school even executed a quitclaim deed to reflect the change: the "Hebrew Academy" deeded the property to the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy." (27 App. 6621.)

"In Perpetuity" Was a Material Term of the Agreement Between Mr. Schwartz and the School

When Dr. Sabbath and Dr. Lubin collected Mr. Schwartz's donation, they understood as a material term of their agreement that Mr. Schwartz's naming rights would be perpetual. Dr. Sabbath recalled even 29 years later that "[t]here was discussion of the perpetuity piece that was very important to him. He wanted the school named after himself in perpetuity." (14 App. 3253.) As Dr. Sabbath testified:

Q. So in your capacity as representing the board, did you agree to accept the money that Mr. Schwartz gave you in exchange for perpetual naming rights to the school?

A. That was the gentleman's agreement.^[4] And we were representing the board and the intention of the board and the goodwill that generous gift engendered.

Q. But did you agree to be bound by that promise that the school would be named for him in perpetuity?

⁴ Dr. Sabbath later explained that she used the term "gentleman's agreement" because she had not seen a written contract and could only surmise "that maybe it was in [oral] conversation that this promise was made." (14 App. 3363–64.)

A. I did not personally agree to be bound. As a board member, that was the intention that I understood.

Q. Of the whole board?

A. Yes.

(14 App. 3254.)⁵

Ms. Pacheco testified that "it was extremely important to him that the school be named after him in perpetuity, forever. He even taught me how to say that word." (13 App. 3163.)⁶ He never would have "given the school a half million dollars if it was not going to be named after him in perpetuity." (13 App. 3165.)

And Mr. Schwartz's son Jonathan explained that Mr. Schwartz

The agreement was the quid pro quo of the donation And to have the school be named after him in perpetuity. And that was the spirit of what the board intended. * * *

[Q.] [D]o you have an understanding one way or the other whether board agreed to be bound by that promise?

A. Yes, we agreed that that would be the agreement.

⁵ 14 App. 3255–56:

⁶ See also 13 App. 3167 ("I used to say forever. And he said no, in perpetuity. . . . in perpetuity, he liked that word. He would often refer to the school as the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in perpetuity throughout the office. He would add that at the end.").

"was extremely proud that the school was going to be known as the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in perpetuity. It was[,] other than his four kids, the most important thing in his life." (14 App. 3383–84.) The "in perpetuity" piece of the deal "was incredibly important to him." (14 App. 3386.)

The Other Material Terms of the Naming Agreement Were Clear

The school seized on purported ambiguities and differences in recollection 30 years after the fact, but Mr. Schwartzer, the former board secretary, testified that the basics were clear: "[T]he agreement with Milton Schwartz was to name the school Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in perpetuity and changing the name would be a violation of that agreement between the board of trustees and Mr. Schwartz." (13 App. 3125.)

According to Mr. Schwartzer, under the terms of the agreement, the corporation itself had to be named the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew

⁷ Even the school's counsel readily acknowledged that "[s]o far nobody has a perfect memory about these things going back 20 years." (14 App. 3329.)

Academy, and there had to be "appropriate signage on the building saying it was the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in some way . . . and what we actually did complies with that understanding." (13 App. 3005.)⁸ While specific buildings or individual rooms might be named after other people, the campus—the property and whatever other buildings were on it—"would be Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy." (13 App. 3006; 14 App. 3269–70.)

B. Mr. Schwartz's Donations Were Conditional

Mr. Schwartz Ceases Donations When the School Temporarily Changes Its Name

Mr. Schwartz loved the school. (14 App. 3344.) It was his legacy.⁹ As his son testified, Mr. Schwartz donated annually to keep the school operating:

These kind of schools never cover their operating expenses, so every single summer, the school would be at a deficit and my dad would get on the phone and raise a bunch of money from people, and he would write a

10

⁸ See also 14 App. 3384–85 (executor's testimony that "his name was going to be on the letterhead of the school, his name was going to be on the pediment of the building[,] [h]is name was going to be at the entrance to the school[,] [a]nd that the school was going to publicly be known as the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy forever").

⁹ See 28 App. 6877 (Lenard Schwartzer encouraging Mr. Schwartz in 1992 that "[i]t's your school, it has your name on it forever").

large check himself to keep it operating. So he was dedicated to it like it was one of his businesses.

(14 App. 3385–86.)

But in 1992, a new board excluded Mr. Schwartz. Mr. Schwartz disputed whether the new board was duly elected, so on the old board's behalf he sued the new board. (27 App. 6622.)¹⁰

The new board then removed Mr. Schwartz's name from the school and the school's letterhead (28 App. 6878)—changes that, according to Ms. Pacheco, made Mr. Schwartz "furious":

[W]e were going to go to war is what he told me. He was very—he was extremely upset that they took his name off because he gave the money and the name of the school is Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy. And he really did not like the idea of his picture coming off the wall. He likes things on walls. And [the removal of his name from] the letterhead also upset him.

(13 App. 3171–72; see also 14 App. 3389 (Mr. Schwartz's son testifying that Mr. Schwartz "was depressed and sad about the whole thing").)¹¹

¹⁰ The old board was considering terminating Dr. Lubin, but the new board was negotiating a "long term contract" with her. (2 App. 289.) Dr. Lubin instructed board member Michael Novick to offer Mr. Schwartz the \$500,000 that he "donated to the Hebrew Academy" before being elected board chairman. (2 App. 288.)

¹¹ Being recognized for his charitable gifts "was extremely important to [Mr. Schwartz]. You just needed to walk into our office to see that and talk to him. Every major gift he gave was connected to naming rights

After the school renamed itself "The Hebrew Academy" (28 App. 6868; 28 App. 6870), Mr. Schwartz stopped visiting the school (13 App. 3183–84) and stopped making donations. He even began investigating naming rights with another Jewish school. (14 App. 3391.) Ms. Pacheco testified that this was because "his name was taken off the school" and "he was kicked off the board." (13 App. 3169.)

The School Makes Amends and Restores Mr. Schwartz's Name

But on May 19, 1996, while Mr. Schwartz was still within the statute of limitations to sue for the school's breach, the school relented and restored Mr. Schwartz's name. (27 App. 6626; 28 App. 6883.) The board "passed a resolution returning the name of the school to the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy. The name would be returned to the stone outside of the school as well as to the school letterhead and other appropriate places." (27 App. 6626.)

or being recognized in some way." (14 App. 3399.) For instance, he would have his secretary walk through Valley Hospital on an annual basis to "make sure that the plaque that said Milton I. Schwartz founded was in the entryway." (13 App. 3164.) When the reception area moved without the plaque, Mr. Schwartz "was very upset about that. So we would have to write a letter and make a formal complaint and then they would move the plaque to the front of the building." (13 App. 3164.)

On behalf of the board, then-school head Dr. Sabbath wrote Mr. Schwartz to reiterate the terms of the naming agreement:

On behalf of myself, President, Geri Rentchler and the entire Board of Directors of the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy, I am pleased to inform you that we will immediately commence action to implement as soon as practicable the following:

- (1) Restore the Hebrew Academy's name to the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy."
- (2) Amend the Hebrew Academy's Articles of Incorporation to restore its former name of the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy."
- (3) Restore the marker in front of the Hebrew Academy identifying it as the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy."
- (4) Change the Hebrew Academy's formal stationary to include its full name, the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy", in a form consistent with this letterhead and include our full name on future brochures.
- Where practicable, display the full name of (5) the Hebrew Academy. In print advertising of sufficient size, the full name of the school will be displayed in a design consistent with the letterhead. Where impractical by reason of size, utilization of voice media, informal correspondence, informal memoranda, etc., and in answering the telephone, the school will utilize the shorthand version of its name as Hebrew Academy or simply, its logo. rest assured it is the intention of the School Head and the school's Officers and Directors that the utilization of the school's full name will be consistent with an intent to recognize and honor your contribution and assistance.

(28 App. 6883; 27 App. 6626.) The school fulfilled these promises, including by amending the bylaws to provide that "[t]he name of the Corporation is the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy and will remain so in perpetuity." (14 App. 3304–05; 13 App. 3178; 27 App. 6629.)

The letter also discusses restoring Mr. Schwartz's name and acknowledges having accepted Mr. Schwartz's earlier contributions, consistent with the naming-rights agreement:

The restoration of the name of the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy" has been taken as matter of "menschlackeit" in acknowledgement of your contribution and assistance to the Academy; your continued commitment to Jewish education reflected by the establishment of the "Jewish Community Day School" and last but not least, your recent action as a man of "shalom."

Your invitation to me as new School Head to meet and resolve differences and to work with me and the Board to bring "shalom" to our Jewish community will serve as a much needed example of Jewish leadership.

Please accept our assurance and commitment that we welcome with joy the establishment of the Jewish Community Day School which will provide Jewish parents a choice between the Jewish education offered by the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy" during normal school hours and a school composed entirely of students with a Jewish parent and many more hours of Jewish education than can be offered in a normal school day.

You have our pledge that we are committed to make the "Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy" a source of honor and a place of Jewish learning of which you and your family will always justly be able to take great pride.

Please accept our wishes for you and your family to have long, healthy, prosperous and joyous lives.

Dr. Roberta Sabbath

Very truly yours,

School Head

(28 App. 6884 ("Sabbath letter").)¹²

¹² If Mr. Schwartz had made (and broken) a promise to pay \$1 million in 1989, there would have been no reason for the school to authorize the Sabbath letter, with its voluntarily agreement *again* to name the school

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