IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF MILTON I. SCHWARTZ, DECEASED.

A. JONATHAN SCHWARTZ, EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF MILTON I. SCHWARTZ,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

vs.

THE DR. MIRIAM AND SHELDON G. ADELSON EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTE,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

THE DR. MIRIAM AND SHELDON G. ADELSON EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTE,

Appellant,

VS.

A. JONATHAN SCHWARTZ, EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF MILTON I. SCHWARTZ,

Respondent.

No. 78341 Electronically Filed Jul 27 2020 06:52 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerks of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT'S ANSWERING BRIEF & OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL (NO. 78341)

OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL (NO. 79464)

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

Similarly, *Merrill v. DeMott*, which addressed a landlord's ability to collect rents despite prior waiver of monthly rental payment(s), is inapplicable to this case as monthly rental payments are not at issue. 113 Nev. 1390, 1400, 951 P.2d 1040, 1046 (1997).²³ In sum, the contracts underlying the Estate's supporting caselaw are entirely unrelated to the alleged contract at issue here.

Accordingly, the Estate's separate breach theory is without merit, and the Court must reject the Estate's attempt to avoid the statute of limitations on this basis.

///

²³ Seaboard Sur. Co. v. U.S. for Use & Benefit of C. D. G., Inc., 355 F.2d 139, 145 (9th Cir. 1966) and Nix v. Heald, 90 Cal.App.2d 723, 203 P.2d 847 (1949) concern waiver principles not at issue here. In Ezra Co. v. Psychiatric Inst. of Washington, D.C., 687 A.2d 587, 589 (D.C. 1996), the court simply indicated in a footnote that the defendant failed to provide any authority for its contention that all of the plaintiff contract claims were barred because its unjust enrichment claim was barred and determined the argument was "unpersuasive on the facts before us." Thus, these cases do not support the Estate's position.

2. Even if the district court erred in granting summary judgment on the Estate's oral contract theory, it cannot show prejudice because the existence of an oral contract was submitted to the jury.

The district court's entry of summary judgment on the Estate's claim for breach of an oral contract was harmless because, over the School's objection, the district court permitted the Estate to present evidence on and submit the issue of the existence of a naming rights contract, oral and written, to the jury. (18 App. 4350-21; 19 App. 4513-16; Op. Br. at 52-53).

The School's motion for judgment as a matter of law asserted that the School's breach of contract claim was time barred because the Estate and its witnesses admitted that the alleged naming rights contract, if it existed, was an oral contract. (12 App. 2869-2902; 18 App. 4305-4333). Thus, pursuant to the district court's pretrial ruling that the Estate's breach of oral contract claim was time barred, the School was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the Estate's breach of contract claim. (*Id*). The district court denied the School's request for directed verdict and permitted the Estate to submit its contract claim to the jury over the School's objection. (18 App. 4350-51, 4409-10; 19 App. 4513). This claim included the theory that the alleged contract was oral in nature. (*Id*).

The Verdict form permitted the jury to find an enforceable *oral* naming rights contract, again over the School's objection. (19 App. 4513). But after the jury was properly instructed on the elements and the burden of proof to prove the existence of a valid and enforceable contract, the jury found that the Estate failed to prove the existence of a valid and enforceable naming rights contract – *either written or oral*. (*Id.*).

In other words, because the Estate was allowed to present evidence on an issue submitted to the jury, in spite of the district court's pre-trail ruling, the Estate's argument that it "could not seek a jury instruction on oral contracts or argue that Mr. Schwartz had a valid oral contract" is wholly without merit. (Op. Br. At 51-52). The jury's verdict nullifies any alleged error in granting partial summary judgment on the Estate's breach of oral contract claim, precluding any demonstrable prejudice by the Estate.

Even assuming the School "falsely" argued that an enforceable contract requires a single writing signed by both parties, which is demonstrably false,²⁴ the Estate cannot show prejudice simply because

²⁴ The School argued extensively that the Estate's proffered documents considered together did not constitute an enforceable agreement because they lacked the material terms, and the jury was instructed that a

the jury found against it on all aspects of the contract claim. The mere fact that the jury, after hearing and considering all the evidence, determined that no enforceable contract existed, either written or oral, does not, and cannot, constitute prejudice.

Therefore, the Estate cannot demonstrate that it suffered the requisite prejudice, and the district court's error, if any, was harmless because the Estate presented evidence on, and the jury considered and rendered a verdict on, the whether there was evidence presented to prove the existence of an enforceable oral agreement.

3. The Estate's contract claim fails under the statute of frauds.

Regardless, the Estate's contract claim fails as a matter of law under the statute of frauds. "Whether a writing is legally sufficient to comply with the statute of frauds presents a question of law." *Edwards Indus., Inc. v. DTE/BTE, Inc.*, 112 Nev. 1025, 1033, 923 P.2d 569, 574 (1996). The statute of frauds requires that any contract that cannot be fully performed within one year be in writing and signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought. *See* NRS 111.220(1).

contract may consist of two or more separate documents. (12 App. 2960, 2965-68; 18 App. 4421, 4425, 4438-39, 4422, 4438-40, 4444, 4497).

To satisfy the statute of frauds, the writing must contain all essential elements of the contract. See Stanley v. A. Levy & J. Zentner Co., 60 Nev. 432, 112 P.2d 1047, 1053 (1941). "The substantial parts of the contract must be embodied in the writing with such a degree of certainty as to make clear and definite the intention of the parties without resort to oral evidence." Id.

A memorandum, in order to make enforceable a contract within the statute, may be any document or writing, formal or informal, signed by the party to be charged or by his agent actually or apparently authorized thereunto, which states with reasonable certainty, (a) each party to the contract either by his own name, or by such a description as will serve to identify him, or by the name or description of his agent, and (b) the land, goods or other subject-matter to which the contract relates, and (c) the terms and conditions of all the promises constituting the contract and by whom and to whom the promises are made.

Id. (citing Restatement of Law Contracts, § 207).

According to the Estate, the alleged naming rights contract was *in perpetuity*, which clearly implicates the statute of frauds. The Estate's Executor admitted that the alleged contract he sought to enforce was made orally. "Mr. Jones, **it was an oral contract**." (15 App. 3507) In addition to the Executor's admission at trial, the Estate cannot point to any writing that comes anywhere close to satisfying the statute of frauds.

Instead, the Estate sought to cobble together multiple documents, created over many years, by a mix of participants in an ill-fated attempt to satisfy the statute of frauds.²⁵ But, the documents cited by the Estate, even when viewed together, still do not create an enforceable contract that satisfies the requirements of the statute of frauds.

While separate writings may be considered together to establish a sufficient writing or memorandum even though one or more is not signed by the party to be charged, the disjointed and disparate documents the Estate relies on do not satisfy the statute of frauds, either individually or collectively. Edwards, 112 Nev. at 1032–33, 923 P.2d at 574 (citing Ray Motor Lodge, Inc. v. Shatz, 80 Nev. 114, 118–19, 390 P.2d 42, 44 (1964)). In Edwards, the appellant presented four documents which it contended constituted sufficient memoranda of the alleged agreement. Id. at 1032–33, 923 P.2d at 574. This Court determined that the documents were insufficient, either individually or collectively. Id. at 1033, 923 P.2d at 574. The Edwards Court reasoned that the statute of frauds precluded enforcement of the agreement given the conflicting testimony on two of

²⁵ In its Opening Brief, the Estate appears to have abandoned its position that a written contract exists, and now contends that the alleged contract was part oral and part written. Ob. Br. at 52-55.

the documents, the fact that one of the documents merely indicated a factual circumstance, but did not establish any of the terms or promises in the alleged agreement, and a letter between the parties did not establish the consequence of a default or establish liability. *Id.*

Similarly, here, even when viewed together, the miscellaneous documents relied on by the Estate are not sufficient memoranda of an alleged oral contract because they do not sufficiently establish the substance, or definite terms and conditions or actual consideration exchanged, of the agreement as alleged by the Estate. (See Op. Br. at 48, fn. 21). First, the absence of a document signed by the School automatically violates the statute of frauds. Second, the Estate overlooks the absence of material terms of the alleged agreement, including the consequences of default or for establishing liability. Even assuming the checks from Milton Schwartz, the pledge list, and the 1999 Bylaws evidence Milton Schwartz's consideration,²⁶ the School's considerable obligations as alleged by the Estate (which involves many more alleged obligations than naming the corporation after Milton Schwartz) are

²⁶ See Statement of Facts, Section B(1), supra, identifying evidence of the material inconsistencies of Milton Schwartz's alleged consideration.

conspicuously absent from these documents. Consequently, the Estate's reliance on cases where the court determined that all requisite essential terms were present in two or more documents are entirely inapplicable. *Id.* There can be no legitimate dispute that the statute of frauds bars the Estate's breach of contract claim.

The facts and circumstances of this case exemplify why the statute of frauds exists. The Estate seeks to bind the School to a plethora of significant obligations in perpetuity. Yet, the Estate admittedly cannot point to a single contract document that contains all the material terms and conditions of the School's eternal naming obligations, and the jumble of unrelated and dissimilar documents the Estate points to as evidence of a meeting of the minds between Milton Schwartz and the School likewise provide no safe harbor from the statutes of frauds. This is especially problematic because the School, like any corporation, operates through its Board, the composition of which is constantly changing. Nevada law fairly and appropriately requires the Estate to produce sufficient evidence that the School's Board entered into a binding agreement to give Milton Schwartz perpetual naming rights. Yet the multitude of documents the Estate relies on to create this perpetual

obligation were considered by Boards made up of different individuals over a period of almost a decade, or were not Board members at all, like Roberta Sabbath, and each such document is different to some extent or another from the others. It goes without saying that you cannot have a meeting of the minds, especially one creating perpetual obligations on the obligor, when the obligor – in this case, the obligor is made up of the various Board members at any given time – changed over time. And none of the documents sets forth the consideration that Milton Schwartz conveyed in order to acquire his perpetual naming rights. Such a proposition is oxymoronic on its face. The Estate clearly failed to meet its burden overcoming the statute of frauds, and thus this is another, separate reason the Estate's claim fails.

B. The District Court Did Not Err in Refusing the Estate's Proposed Jury Instructions on Contract Modification and Breach of the Implied Covenant.

1. Standard of review.

A district court's decision to give or refuse a particular instruction will not be overturned absent an abuse of the district court's discretion or judicial error. *See Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 126 Nev. 446, 464, 244 P.3d 765,

778 (2010); *D & D Tire v. Ouellette*, 131 Nev. 462, 470, 352 P.3d 32, 37 (2015).

Although "a party is entitled to jury instructions on every theory of [its] case that is supported by the evidence," Johnson v. Egtedar, 112 Nev. 428, 432, 915 P.2d 271, 273 (1996), the offering party must demonstrate that the proffered jury instruction is warranted by Nevada law. See NRCP 51(a)(1); D&D Tire, 131 Nev. at470, 352 P.3d at 37. Under the harmless error rule, the trial court's alleged error, if any, should be disregarded. See NRCP 61. "To establish that an error is prejudicial, the movant must show that the error affects the party's substantial rights so that, but for the alleged error, a different result might reasonably have been reached." Wyeth v. Rowatt, 126 Nev. at 465, 244 P.3d at 778. This is a fact-dependent inquiry that requires this Court to evaluate the alleged error in light of the entire record. Id.

2. The district court did not err in refusing to provide the contract modification instruction.

The district court properly refused the Estate's modification instruction. The modification instruction was not warranted or appropriate under Nevada law and the Estate cannot meet its burden to

demonstrate a different result would probably have been obtained if the instruction was permitted.

a. The Estate failed to provide evidence to support its late added contract modification theory.

The district court correctly determined the Estate was not entitled to a contract modification instruction. Critically, the Estate failed to present evidence regarding Milton Schwartz's alleged consideration to support the modification. For modification to an existing contract to be enforceable, the agreement must be supported by independent consideration; a promise to perform an act the promisor already owed a does not constitute independent pre-existing duty to perform consideration. See Zhang v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 120 Nev. 1037, 1040-41, 103 P.3d 20, 22-23 (2004), abrogated on other grounds by Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of North Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228 n.6, 181 P.3d 670 672 n.6 (2008) (holding a modification without new consideration to be unenforceable); Clark County v. Bonanza No. 1, 96 Nev. 643, 650-51, 615 P.2d 939, 943-44 (1980). The lack of evidence of additional consideration to support the claimed modification precluded the Estate from submitting this issue to the jury.

Contrary to the Estate's argument, the Sabbath Letter and the parties' so-called course of conduct do not constitute evidence of an enforceable modification. On its face, the Sabbath Letter provides no evidence of additional consideration and does not otherwise constitute evidence of an intent to modify a prior agreement. (28 App. 6883-84). In that letter, Dr. Sabbath clearly states that the School is making a voluntary undertaking to return its name to the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy and undertake the various corresponding actions "as a matter of 'menschlackeit' [sic] in acknowledgment of your contribution and assistance to the academy; your continued commitment to Jewish education reflected by the establishment of the 'Jewish Community Day School' and last but not least, your recent action as a man of 'shalom." (*Id.*). Dr. Sabbath never mentions a prior contract and the Estate failed to provide any evidence that the parties intended for the Sabbath Letter to modify any alleged prior contract.

The Estate also failed to adduce evidence that the parties' so-called course of conduct warranted the modification instruction. Because the Sabbath Letter does not provide evidence of an enforceable modification to a prior enforceable contract, the School's voluntary name change, as

set forth in the Sabbath Letter, is not evidence of conduct consistent with the alleged modifications. The School's numerous name changes, including the change to and from the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy without any evidence that Milton Schwartz asserted or alleged a breach of his purported naming rights contract further demonstrates there was no enforceable contract to modify. Therefore, the district court correctly refused to provide this instruction.

b. The absence of a contract modification instruction did not prejudice the Estate because the jury determined that no contract ever existed.

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